UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-20-2012

State v. Stone Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39229

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an appeal from the denial of a motion to suppress statements after a conditional plea of guilty.

B. Pre-Trial Proceedings.

1. The charge.

Chris Stone was charged by indictment with the first-degree premeditated murder of his wife, Florence Stone. The indictment also alleged a sentencing enhancement for the use of a firearm during the commission of the offense. CR 28-29. Mr. Stone entered not guilty pleas. CR 42. The charge was later reduced to second-degree murder by the filing of an amended indictment and a not guilty plea to the reduced charge was entered. CR 84, 94.

2. <u>The motion to suppress.</u>

A motion to suppress statements was filed and a hearing on the motion was set. CR 58-61, 70. Mr. Stone sought to suppress evidence obtained as a result of law enforcement interviews and a subsequent recorded telephone call from the Ada County Jail. Transcripts of the interviews were admitted at the suppression hearing as State's Exhibits 1 and 2. At first, Mr. Stone told the police that he shot his wife in self-defense after she stabbed him in the abdomen with a knife. But after nearly eight hours of interrogations and only after implied promises of leniency by the detective, Mr. Stone changed his statement, at the suggestion of the detective, to say that he shot Florence because she angered him with the comment that she had only married him in order to obtain a green card. Mr. Stone repeated that involuntary statement later that same evening to his mother in a recorded telephone conversation from the Ada County Jail. Defendant's Exhibit C.

The court held an evidentiary hearing. It did not make written findings of fact or written conclusions of law, but it orally made the following nine findings of fact:

1.¹ On August 29, 2010, Canyon County deputies were dispatched to 22798 ElsieRoad in Caldwell, Idaho, regarding a shooting and possible stabbing.

2. When they arrived, they discovered defendant Stone standing in front of the residence talking on his cell phone. Corporal Paul Maund ordered Stone to get on his knees and handcuffed him. Stone volunteered the following statement to Deputy Maund, "It was self-defense, I had to do it."

2.1. After Stone was handcuffed, Deputy Frank Hernandez approached Stone. Deputy Hernandez then Mirandized Stone, and Mr. Stone responded that he understood his rights.

2.2. Stone then inquired as follows: "Is it in my best interest to keep quiet?" and Deputy Hernandez responded, "Completely up to you."

2.3. Stone then informed Officer Hernandez that he was a speech language pathologist, he was 49 years of age, that he had never been arrested, that he had never previously shot anyone or been stabbed.

2.4. Mr. Stone then volunteered that he had a concealed weapon permit and stated to Officer Hernandez, "And if I hadn't have had my gun, she'd be calling you right now telling you I'm dead." Officer Hernandez's response was to inquire about Mr. Stone's injuries. Mr. Stone's response was as follows: "She stuck the F'ing knife deep inside me."

¹ The court numbered its findings during the oral ruling. Mr. Stone has kept the court's numbering system, i.e., 1, 2, 3, etc, but has noted additional findings as 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 etc, in cases where the court made more than one factual determination within a single "finding."

3. Mr. Stone was then placed in an ambulance and transported. Officer Hernandez assisted by riding in the ambulance to keep medical staff secure. He then remained at the hospital with defendant Stone.

4. Mr. Stone continued to engage Officer Hernandez as well as EMTs in conversation throughout the ride to the hospital in Boise from the Caldwell location stating, "She married me for a green card."

4.1. The conversation between Caldwell and Boise consists of the transcript, Volume I, pages 14 through 63. During the ride to the hospital while being questioned by the EMT, Mr. Stone described himself as follows: "I am cognitive, I am coherent, I am in a little bit of pain, I feel awful about what just happened, but to tell you the truth, the way she was looking at me, one of us was going to die or get really first F'd up and I didn't choose this."

5. Upon arrival at the hospital, the handcuffs were removed from defendant Stone and the assigned detective, Christopher McCormick, took over. While Stone was being treated medically, he was again Mirandized by the detective. Once again, Stone indicated he understood his Miranda rights. Specifically, Detective McCormick advised the defendant that he was not under arrest or in custody.

5.1. But, Mr. Stone was being treated by use of a breathing device and, as a result, was not able to leave the room on his own. Detective McCormick acknowledged in testimony that he did not have enough evidence to arrest the defendant at that point.

5.2. He described Mr. Stone's demeanor as pleasant, lucid, joking, alert, and outgoing. He further stated that the defendant did not appear confused or incoherent throughout the interview and that he was not aware of any medication the defendant was being given at the time. He further noted that the defendant did not appear to be under the influence and that it was Mr. Stone who did most of the talking.

6. During the course of the next four to six hours, Detective McCormick continued to question Mr. Stone at the hospital as the defendant continued to be treated medically. Mr. Stone related initially that his wife, Florence, had come to the home to retrieve items of personal property. While loading them into the back of her minivan, she attempted to stab him in the abdomen. As a result, Mr. Stone indicated he retrieved the revolver from his pocket and fired two shots into the back of her head.

7. In the course of treatment, the defendant was removed from the room by medical personnel and administered a CAT scan. He was then returned to the room where Detective McCormick had remained. Detective McCormick challenged Mr. Stone's self-defense version of the incident indicating that a three-dimensional view that he had observed with the radiologist suggested that Mr. Stone had stabbed himself. Mr. Stone denied this, but indicated that in retrieving his pistol, his wife said something that he had never heard before: "I only married you for your green card."

8. The defendant suffers from diabetes, Type II. The hospital records indicate his blood sugar level was above 400 on August 29, 2010. Normal blood sugar is between 80 and 100. A blood sugar level that high, "has an impact on a person's ability to think very clearly."

8.1. In addition, the defendant was given at the hospital a pain medication, Dilaudid. Dilaudid "is a relatively fast-acting, very potent, opiate-type medication," which can cause a hypnotic effect and reduced defenses.

9. The defendant introduced expert testimony of Dr. Ofshe that Detective McCormick

4

used coercive interrogation techniques which caused the defendant to falsely adopt Detective McCormick's factual scenario of the killing being a spur of the moment response to Florence Stone's statement about the green card, not self-defense.² Dr. Ofshe also testified that Detective McCormick employed techniques in which Mr. Stone believed he would be granted leniency if he adopted Detective McCormick's factual scenario and treated more harshly if he did not do so, alleging that this resulted in the defendant's statement being involuntary.

T pg. 384, ln. 22 - pg. 390, ln. 7.

As the court noted in its findings, Richard Ofshe, Ph.D., testified at the motion hearing. Dr. Ofshe obtained his doctorate in Social Psychology from Stanford University. T pg. 19, ln. 4-18. He is professor emeritus of Sociology at the University of California at Berkeley and has been a member of the faculty since 1968. T pg. 27, ln. 1-16. (Dr. Ofshe's curriculum vitae was introduced as Defense Exhibit B.) Since obtaining his doctorate, Dr. Ofshe has studied cult or high-control environments and shared the 1979 Pulitzer Prize for Public Service in Journalism for an investigation on the Synanon organization. T pg. 21, ln. 3-7. In addition, he has extensively studied police interrogation, particularly whether police interrogation techniques can have the effect of eliciting false confessions. T pg. 21, ln. 9-20. At the beginning of that research, he reviewed the legal and social science literature in the field. He then began analyzing transcripts of police interrogations. In doing so, he developed a model of how police interrogations work, specifically of the tactics and techniques used during interrogation and the sequence of techniques. T pg. 22, ln. 23 - pg. 23, ln. 24. He is widely published on the topic of

² Actually Dr. Ofshe did not offer an opinion about the truth or falsity of the statements. See T pg. 134, ln. 20 - pg. 135, ln. 2. See T pg. 135, ln. 15 - pg. 136, ln. 10 (where Dr. Ofshe testified that a statement could be both coerced and true).

police interrogation techniques generally and how those techniques can result in false confessions in particular. T pg. 30, ln. 14 - pg. 31, ln. 13.

Doctor Ofshe reviewed the interrogation transcripts in this case and came to several opinions. First, that the interrogation fit within the model of typical police interrogations which he had previously developed. T pg. 36, ln. 1-12. Second, that the interrogator, Detective McCormick, "developed a strategy to motivate Mr. Stone to abandon his initial account of what happened leading up to the shooting of his former wife and to substitute a scenario for the crime, and particularly for how he was – what motivated him to pull the trigger." The detective did so by linking Mr. Stone's initial version of the events "to severe consequences" while at the same time substituting the detective's theory of the case, i.e., that she was shot after insulting Mr. Stone, and linking that version "to receiving leniency." T pg. 36, ln. 14 - pg. 37, ln. 6.

Doctor Ofshe explained that the detective used a "psychological coercive motivational strategy" to communicate and reinforce the linkage between punishment and Mr. Stone's statement, while at the same time establishing a separate link between leniency and the detective's version of the events. T pg. 38, ln. 18-20. "[F]irst [he] communicated a promise of leniency by posing a hypothetical question to Stone. The question is designed to influence Stone to conclude that if he gives up the allegedly discredited self-defense account of the shooting and thereby supposedly stops trying to fool the judge, the judge will treat him leniently." The detective then "inform[ed] Stone that based on his experience, persons who confess get different sentences than those who try to deceive judges."³ T pg. 37, ln. 7-14.

³ See Defendant's Exhibit A, pg. 10 ("Who do you think the judge is going to be more lenient, going to be more – going to want to work with more?") and pg. 14 ("From my experience, someone who wants to bullshit the system versus somebody who takes

Second, Doctor Ofshe testified that:

He threatens Stone that if he continues in the self-defense story, that McCormick will be obliged to make up his own account of what happened. He reinforces that by setting out two alternatives, one that this is something that was planned or, as McCormick hopes, something that was just a spur of the moment thing. And he also assures, promises Mr. Stone that he will be punished more severely if he . . . continues to maintain his self-defense account.

T pg. 38, ln. 3-12.⁴

This strategy was specifically designed to link the "receipt of leniency to compliance and confessing and particularly adopting a scenario for the crime typically suggested by the interrogator" and to contrast that to the link between continuing to deny guilt and more severe punishment. Dr. Ofshe testified "that's exactly what McCormick did in this interrogation." T pg. 38, ln. 16 - pg. 37, ln.1.

The result of this technique "was that Mr. Stone shifted from his initial account from what happened . . . [and] adopted the motivational explanation that McCormick offered, [i.e.,] that something your former wife did broke you, caused you to snap. . . that basically this was a momentary loss of control[.]" T pg. 39, ln. 3-11. The doctor noted, "[w]hat's crucial here is there's a distinction between responding to her stabbing you versus responding to something she said. It's a shift to it's what she said that caused you to do this" instead of acting in self defense. T pg. 39, ln. 13-18.

Doctor Ofshe explained that this psychologically coercive motivational strategy is

accountability, there seems to be some disparity between the sentence, okay?') Exhibit A was prepared by Dr. Ofshe. It takes excerpts from the interrogation transcript and uses them to illustrate his observations about the interrogation. T pg. 57, ln. 24 - pg. 58, ln. 25.

⁴ Exhibit A, pg. 12 ("There's going to be consequences but I'll tell you what, they're going to be a whole hell of a lot more severe if you keep on playing the lie and deceit game.")

specifically taught by "Reid and Associates, the principal interrogation training organization in America." T pg. 52, ln. 13-14. "The mechanism for accomplishing this is to introduce a scenario for the crime, a story of how the crime happened that is endorsed by the interrogator that seems to justify leniency and the interrogator presses the suspect to adopt." T pg. 52, ln. 16-21.

Shortly after adopting Detective McCormick's scenario, Mr. Stone was placed in custody and taken to the Ada County Jail. From there, he called his mother and told her what he had just told Detective McCormick. Defendant's Exhibit C is a transcript of that telephone call. Doctor Ofshe testified that Mr. Stone would be expected to maintain the story he just recently adopted, especially since he knew the jail call was being recorded.

If it's a statement that has been obtained by a promise of leniency or a threat of harm, then it would typical to maintain that statement for some period of time afterwards because they've agreed to so something to get a benefit and they're going to protect that.

In this case, it doesn't even come to that because he knows, and his mother reminds him, that this is being tape-recorded and if he – and that takes away from him, in my judgment, any freedom as to what he might say to her. If he doesn't repeat the story, he's abandoning the deal that he's made, and now he's back in the same position that he would be prior to having made that, only worse.

T pg. 96, ln. 24 - pg. 97, ln. 12.

In conclusion, Dr. Ofshe's opinion was that the reason Mr. Stone changed his story was the detective's perceived promise of leniency and that the techniques employed by Detective McCormick were "indeed a psychologically coercive motivation tactic because it linked confession or compliance to the scenario that McCormick laid out to leniency and linked continuing denial of that and holding to the initial story to relatively more severe punishment." T pg. 100, ln. 9-17; pg. 101, ln. 12-20.

Mr. Stone then presented the testimony of Craig Beaver, Ph.D. The state objected to the

testimony in its entirety on relevance grounds. T pg. 147, ln. 15-16. The court allowed the testimony to be presented and deferred ruling on the state's objection. T pg. 151, ln. 21-23. Eventually, the court ruled that it would not consider "Dr. Beaver's testimony on the psychological makeup which may have caused the defendant to change his recollection of events." It did admit his "testimony in relation to the defendant's diabetes and the effects of the pain medication administered to the defendant." T pg. 384, ln. 6-13.

Dr. Beaver is a neuropsychologist. He holds a doctorate in clinical psychology and is a licensed psychologist in Idaho, Oregon and Washington. T pg. 9-25. He reviewed Mr. Stone's medical records from St. Alphonsus which were admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit E. T pg. 165, ln. 6-7; 166, ln. 24-25. The records show that Mr. Stone has a history of Type II diabetes and "[b]y his own acknowledgment, he doesn't do a good job of controlling it." T pg. 183, ln. 3-6. A blood test taken at the hospital showed that his blood sugar level was over 400, with 80–100 being the normal range. Dr. Beaver stated that "the literature is very clear in neuropsychology that [once] you get substantially out of those ranges, people's thinking becomes clouded. So especially a blood sugar level that is that high has an impact on a person's ability to think very clearly." T pg. 183, ln. 3-19.

In addition, Mr. Stone was given the pain medication Dilaudid at the hospital. T pg. 183, ln. 20-23. He was given a shot of it and was also put on an I.V. drip with the drug. Diauldid is a "relatively fast-acting, very potent opiate type medication, and it has almost a hypnotic effect on individuals." It not only clouds the judgment of the patient but it "generally relaxes them, thus reducing their defenses." T pg. 184, ln. 3-10.

Dr. Beaver also testified that Mr. Stone was "highly suggestible in comparison to the

average person." T pg. 169, ln. 1405. He based his opinion on a clinical interview with Mr. Stone which revealed that while of average intelligence and above average education, Mr. Stone described a history of social anxiety, with very few close friends and a strong – almost dependent - attachment to his parents, especially for someone nearly fifty years old. T pg. 170, ln 2-23. Dr. Beaver noted that "people with social anxiety are more prone to want to please people in authority or power." T pg. 178, ln. 2-3. In addition, Mr. Stone had struggled with depression, was on medications for that and had been psychiatrically hospitalized in the past. T pg. 170, ln. 24 - pg. 171, ln. 8. Further, he had a high score (above the 75th percentile) in comparison to other criminal defendants on a validated and accepted psychological test, which revealed that he was highly suggestible. T pg. 176, ln. 14-15. The score was even higher when the comparison group was broadened from only criminal defendants to more normative groups. T pg. 176, ln. 16-21. In addition, Mr. Stone's very high general level of suggestibility was increased by the situational factors present during the interview, including the stress of having just shot and killed his wife, the stress and pain of being stabbed with a knife, the stress of being arrested at gunpoint and placed in handcuffs, the stress of being question by law enforcement while in the ambulance on the way to the hospital and the long duration of the interrogation. T pg. 179, ln. 8 - pg. 182, ln. 16.

In light of the above, Dr. Beaver stated that "Mr. Stone as a person who is highly suggestible, the context in which the interrogation by law enforcement took place would [have] substantially increase[d] the likelihood of his suggestibility. And so the two combined would be quite a potent combination with regard to his . . . suggestibility and the influenceability of his recollection of events." T pg. 188, ln. 1-8. He concluded that "as the interrogation wound down

in the early morning hours, it is my opinion that he was not able to resist the stories and questions that the law enforcement person was offering him." T pg. 190, ln. 3-7. In other words, Mr. Stone's will was overborne because he could not "resist the requests or actions of the another." T pg. 189, ln. 13-16.

3. <u>The court's ruling.</u>

The court concluded that Mr. Stone was not in custody at his home or at the hospital, that he understood his *Miranda* rights and he waived his rights. T pg. 395, ln. 3 - pg. 396, ln. 18. It also concluded that Mr. Stone's statements were not involuntary after considering the six factors set out in "*Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 1984." [sic]. T pg. 398, ln. 14. Finally, it concluded that the tactics used by the police during the interrogations did not go "beyond what's considered appropriate," T pg. 403, ln. 20-22, and denied the motion to suppress, concluding that the statements were made voluntarily. T pg. 405, ln. 3.

C. Conditional Guilty Plea.

After the denial of the motion to suppress, the parties reached a settlement agreement. The state amended the amended indictment by striking the firearm enhancement. CR 84-85. Mr. Stone entered a conditional guilty plea to the second amended indictment reserving in writing "the right to appeal the Court's denial of the Defendant's motion to suppress and [agreeing that] if the Defendant prevails on appeal he will be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea." CR 144.

D. Sentencing.

The district court sentenced Chris to a twenty-year sentence with nine years fixed. CR 165. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. CR 167.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Did the court err in declining to consider the entire testimony of Craig Beaver in support of the motion to suppress?

2. Did the court err in concluding that the statements were made voluntarily in light of the evidence before it?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Erred by Declining to Consider the Entire Testimony of Dr. Beaver.

1. Facts pertaining to argument.

As noted above, Mr. Stone offered the testimony of Craig Beaver, Ph.D. as to his opinions regarding Mr. Stone's suggestibility and the factors which led to Mr. Stone changing his original story and adopting the story suggested by the detective. He also testified about the effect of Mr. Stone's medical condition and medicated state on his mental status.

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