Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-15-2012

Boise Mode, LLC v. Donahoe Pace & Partners Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39229

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

1. Motion to Continue Pursuant to Rule 56(f).

This Court reviews a denial of a Rule 56(f) motion for an abuse of discretion and thus analyzes "if the trial court knew it had the discretion, acted within the parameters provided to it and demonstrated an exercise of reason." *Jenkins v. Boise Cascade Corp.*, 141 Idaho 233, 238, 108 P.3d 380, 385 (2005) (quoting *Brady v. City of Homedale*, 130 Idaho 569, 572, 944 P.2d 704, 707 (1997)).

2. Consideration of Motion for Reconsideration and Further Consideration.

This Court likewise reviews a grant of a motion for reconsideration for abuse of discretion. *Jordan v. Beeks*, 135 Idaho 586, 592, 21 P.3d 908, 914 (2001) ("The decision to grant or deny a request for reconsideration generally rests in the sound discretion of the trial court.").

3. Summary Judgment Standard.

This Court's standard of review of a summary judgment ruling is the same standard the district court was required to apply in deciding Boise Mode's motion for summary judgment. See Venters v. Sorrento Delaware, Inc., 141 Idaho 245, 249, 108 P.3d 392, 396 (2005). Under that standard, Boise Mode bears the initial burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to some element of its claims. Id. at 250, 108 P.3d at 397. If Boise Mode succeeds, "the burden shifts to [DPP] to show that a genuine issue of material fact on the challenged element of the claim does exist." Id. To satisfy that ultimate burden, DPP "may not

rest upon the mere allegations or denials of [its] pleadings, but...must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.* (quoting I.R.C.P. 56(e)). A "mere scintilla of evidence" that creates only "slight doubt as to the facts" is not enough to avoid summary judgment. *NW. Bec-Corp v. Home Living Serv.*, 136 Idaho 835, 839, 41 P.3d 263, 267 (2002).

As for Donahoe Pace's counterclaims, "Rule 56(c) mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Jenkins*, 141 Idaho at 239, 108 P.3d at 386.

B. The District Court Correctly Denied DPP's Rule 56(f) Motion.

Rather than oppose Boise Mode's motion for summary judgment on its merits, DPP chose to merely file a motion for continuance under Rule 56(f) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. The district court correctly denied that motion.

Rule 56(f) provides:

Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that the party cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or make such other order as is just.

I.R.C.P. 56(f).

This Court has explained the nature of the burden that a party moving under Rule 56(f) must meet:

It has been noted that a party who invokes the protection of Rule 56(f) must 'do so in good faith by affirmatively demonstrating why

he cannot respond to a movant's affidavits ... and how postponement of a ruling on the motion will enable him, by discovery or other means, to rebut the movant's showing of the absence of a genuine issue of fact.' Allen v. Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc., 81 F.3d 793, 797 (8th Cir. 1996). Further, in order to grant a motion for additional discovery before hearing a motion on summary judgment, the plaintiff has the burden of setting out "what further discovery would reveal that is essential to justify their opposition," making clear "what information is sought and how it would preclude summary judgment." Nicholas v. Wallenstein, 266 F.3d 1083, 1088-89 (9th Cir. 2001).

Jenkins, 141 Idaho at 239, 108 P.3d at 386. In other words, a party seeking relief under Rule 56(f) "must articulate what additional discovery is necessary and how it is relevant to responding to the pending motion." *Id.* (emphases added).

In *Jenkins*, the plaintiffs' attorney filed an affidavit in support of the Rule 56(f) motion stating that additional written discovery and depositions were pending and that he "believed the discovery would provide additional documents and testimony supporting the [plaintiffs'] theories, and that he required the opportunity to use the responses and testimony in additional discovery in order to thoroughly respond to summary judgment." *Id.* at 238, 108 P.3d at 385. This Court upheld the district court's denial of the Rule 56(f) motion because although the plaintiffs' attorney's affidavit stated that "additional written discovery and depositions were pending... he did not specify what discovery was needed to respond to [defendant's] motion and did not set forth how the evidence he expected to gather through further discovery would be relevant to preclude summary judgment." *Id.* at 239, 108 P.3d at 386. The Court also noted that the case had been pending for more than a year. *Id.* For those reasons, and because the district court "recognized it had the discretion to deny the motion, articulated the reasons for doing so,

and exercised reason in making the decision," the Court concluded that there was no abuse of discretion in the denial of plaintiffs' motion to vacate. *Id*.

In this case, DPP likewise failed to satisfy its burden to establish what information it sought and, in particular, how such information would preclude summary judgment. Rather, the papers filed in support of DPP's Rule 56(f) motion were as conclusory as the attorney's affidavit at issue in *Jenkins* and, like that affidavit, similarly failed to specifically state "what further discovery would reveal that is essential to justify their opposition"; failed to make clear "what information is sought and how it would preclude summary judgment"; and failed to "set forth how the evidence he expected to gather through further discovery would be relevant to preclude summary judgment." 141 Idaho at 239, 108 P.3d at 386.

In particular, the Affidavit of John Browder filed in support of DPP's Rule 56(f) Motion merely discusses what information was sought via written discovery requests (which requests Boise Mode had answered on May 10, 2011, nearly six months earlier) and then asserts that DPP attempted to obtain information from third parties Colliers and the North Face without explaining how any information from those third parties would be relevant to preclude summary judgment. R 364-365, ¶¶ 4-5.4

DPP does not even argue to this Court that its submissions in support of its Rule 56(f) Motion met the burden established by *Jenkins*. Rather, DPP merely argues that the district court erred because there were "discovery requests outstanding at the time of Boise Mode's Motion for

⁴ Notably, despite receiving Boise Mode's written responses nearly six months earlier, and despite asserting, in support of its Rule 56(f) Motion, that Boise Mode had "raised a number of

Summary Judgment" and "Boise Mode had sole possession of some of the materials DPP was seeking." App. Brief at 13. In support of that argument, DPP relies solely on several cases from outside Idaho. DPP's reliance on those cases is misplaced, because it relies only on those cases while ignoring the on-point authority from this Court, *Jenkins*.⁵

Indeed, *Jenkins* belies the central tenet of DPP's argument, that a court abuses its wide discretion where it denies a Rule 56(f) motion "when there is an outstanding discovery request and the information sought is in the control of the opposing party." App. Brief at 14.⁶ As described above, the *Jenkins* court actually held just the opposite, namely that it was *not* an abuse of discretion for the district court to deny a Rule 56(f) motion where there were outstanding discovery requests seeking information that was, presumably, in the control of the opposing party. 141 Idaho at 238-39, 108 P.3d at 385-86.⁷

specious objections," counsel for DPP had not once contacted counsel for Boise Mode to voice any concerns with those answers. R 471.

⁵ Boise Mode recognizes, of course, that federal courts' interpretations of those Federal Rules of Civil Procedure that are substantively similar to Idaho's Rules are persuasive. But where this Court has spoken on the Idaho Rule – and particularly where, as here, this Court has decided a case under the applicable Idaho Rule, reliance on federal authority alone is unwarranted. *See Herrera v. Estay*, 146 Idaho 674, 678, 201 P.3d 647, 651 (2009) ("Given the virtual identity between these rules and their counterparts in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, <u>and the lack of case law in Idaho</u>, it is appropriate for this Court to turn to federal authority to address the standard of review.") (Emphasis added.)

⁶ The text of DPP's brief on this point refers to a "motion for summary judgment" (App. Brief, p. 14, L. 5-7), but given the context in which the language appears, it seems readily apparent that it is intended to refer to a motion for a continuance pursuant to Rule 56(f).

⁷ Although the *Jenkins* decision does not expressly specify whether the information sought by the plaintiffs was in the control of the opposing party, given the nature of the plaintiffs' main argument (that the defendant had dual processes and procedures in place to discharge personnel)

In any event, the foreign authority on which DPP relies is readily distinguishable on numerous grounds. Moreover, the rule of law announced in those cases actually supports the district court's decision in this case. For example, in Doe v. Abington Friends School, 480 F.3d 252 (3d Cir. 2007), the primary case relied upon by DPP, the plaintiffs' Rule 56(f) motion identified six specific areas of inquiry that were relevant to the central issue in the case -whether the defendant qualified for a religious exemption. Moreover, the defendant there had filed a motion for summary judgment less than two months after the plaintiffs filed their complaint, and district court granted such motion "before allowing the Does any discovery into the factual basis for applying the religious exemption." *Id.* at 254-58. In addition, the rule of law endorsed by the *Doe* court undermines, rather than supports, DPP's argument: the court noted that a party seeking relief under Rule 56(f) must detail "what particular information is sought; how, if uncovered, it would preclude summary judgment; and why it has not previously been obtained." Id. at 255, n. 3 (quoting Dowling v. City of Philadelphia, 855 F.2d 136, 140 (3d Cir. 1988)) (emphasis added). See Ingle ex rel. Estate of Ingle v. Yelton, 439 F.3d 191, 195 (4th Cir. 1996) ("Rule 56(f) motions may be denied...if the 'additional evidence sought for discovery would not have by itself created a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to defeat summary judgment.") (quoting Strag v. Bd. Of Trustees, 55 F.3d 943, 954 (4th Cir. 1995)).

This case differs in at least three significant respects from *Doe*.

First, DPP failed to explain how the information it sought from third parties was relevant, let alone how it would preclude summary judgment.

it can be fairly inferred that the plaintiffs were seeking information controlled by the defendant. 141 Idaho at 238, 108 P.3d at 385.

Second, the timing here is completely, and materially, different: rather than seek summary judgment at the outset of the case, Boise Mode did not move for summary judgment until the end of the period of time allotted for doing so (a period of time to which the parties had stipulated). In contrast to the motion filed in *Doe*, Boise Mode's motion did not deprive DPP of its opportunity for discovery.

Third, DPP failed to offer a satisfactory explanation for why the information it sought had not been previously obtained, despite the nearly six months that had elapsed from DPP's receipt of Boise Mode's answers to written discovery. Indeed, under the *Doe* test, the mere fact that DPP could articulate no good reason as to why the information it sought had not "previously been obtained," despite ample opportunity, is alone sufficient to uphold the district court's denial of DPP's Rule 56(f) motion, which was based upon that specific reason. R 452. 480 F.3d at 255 n.3. *See Contractors Association of Eastern Pennsylvania, Inc. v. City of Philadelphia*, 945 F.2d 1260, 1267 (3d Cir. 1991) (evaluation of a Rule 56(f) motion "requires an inquiry into why the party seeking more time has not previously obtained the information").

Similar factual differences render other cases cited by DPP distinguishable. *See, e.g.*, *Ingle*, 439 F.3d at 194-196 (in excessive force action, plaintiff sought videotape evidence that was necessary for a "thorough assessment" of officers' self-serving statements, and plaintiff presented a plausible argument that the evidence she sought may actually exist); *Ward v. United States*, 471 F.2d 667, 679-70 (3d Cir. 1977) (plaintiff alleged negligence and sought evidence regarding operational negligence; government's evidence was relevant only to the issue of

negligence at the planning level, not at the operational negligence; district court erred in disregarding the distinction between the two).8

In any event, the district court's decision on DPP's Rule 56(f) motion clearly evidences that the court acted within the bounds of its wide discretion in denying the motion. *Jenkins*, 141 Idaho at 239, 108 P.3d at 386. In its Summary Judgment Order, the district court stated, "a Rule 56(f) motion is committed to the discretion of the court" before then declaring a reasoned basis for denying the motion -- namely, DPP's inability to articulate a reason for seeking discovery of information that it could have attempted to discover much earlier. Tr 6, p. 21, L. 1-11; R 452, L. 6-12. In other words, the court "recognized it had the discretion to deny the motion, articulated the reasons for doing so and exercised reason in making the decision." *Jenkins*, 141 Idaho at 239, 108 P.3d at 386. There was no abuse of discretion.9

C. The District Court Correctly Considered and Ruled on Boise Mode's Motion for Reconsideration and Further Consideration.

_

⁸ As for XRT, Inc. v. Krellenstein, 448 F.2d 772 (5th Cir. 1971), that per curiam opinion is a mere four paragraphs long and is, as a result, necessarily bereft of much detail or analysis. Nevertheless, the terse description of the facts reveals that the documents sought in that case, work papers from an audit claimed to be false, was directly relevant to the underlying claim, for fraud in the sale of a business, and to the motion for summary judgment, unlike the information sought by DPP here.

⁹ DPP's contention that "considerations of prejudice and delay of proceedings were irrelevant," is belied by the record and, in particular, by DPP's own admissions. When questioned by the district court at the hearing on Boise Mode's motion for summary judgment, counsel for DPP admitted that a grant of the Rule 56(f) Motion would necessarily result in changes to the scheduling order. Tr 3, p. 11, L. 23 - p. 12, L. 6. And DPP's contention that the deadline for opposing motions for summary judgment was almost two months away when it served its subpoenas is plainly wrong. The latest date for hearing motions for summary judgment was December 25, 2010, so the deadline for filing response briefs was, at the latest, December 11, 2010.

DPP argues that the district court erred in considering and ruling upon Boise Mode's Motion for Reconsideration and Further Consideration. In support, DPP asserts that, because it styled its Motion to Amend as a Rule 59(e) motion, the district court was precluded from reconsideration of its Order Granting the Motion to Amend and from further consideration of the arguments Boise Mode presented in support of its motion for summary judgment. DPP's argument is contrary to the law and illogical, for three reasons.

First, although DPP's argument is predicated on the text of Rule 11(a)(2)(B), its reading of that text does not withstand scrutiny. The first sentence of that Rule applies to interlocutory orders, and it provides that a party may move the court to reconsider "any interlocutory orders[.]" (Emphasis added.) It is beyond dispute that the district court's March Order granting DPP's Motion to Amend was an interlocutory order. The second sentence of Rule 11(a)(2)(B), which DPP relies upon in support of its argument, plainly applies only to orders "made after entry of final judgment[.]" The purpose of that sentence's prohibition on reconsideration of certain orders made after entry of final judgment is to provide a degree of finality. That purpose is not applicable where, as here, the order entered by the district court pursuant to DPP's self-styled Motion to Amend had the effect of reinstating the case rather than ending it.

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